
MINUTES OF THE HARDYSTON TOWNSHIP PLANNING BOARD ME ETING HELD  
APRIL 24, 2008 
 
CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER:  Chairman Miller called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. and 
read the following Statement of Compliance. 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE : Pursuant to the Open Public Meetings Act, Chapter 231,  
P.L. 1975, adequate notice as defined in section 3D of Chapter 21 P.L. 1975, has been made to the New 
Jersey Herald and is also posted on the bulletin board at the Hardyston Township Municipal Building. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Leslie Hamilton – Excused  
Ken Kievit – Present  
Robert Neubig – Present  
William Hickerson – Present  
Robert F. Schultz – Present  
John Monell – Present  
James Homa – Present  
Brian Kaminski – Excused  
Randy Roof (Alternate No. 1) – Present   
Stanley Kula (Alternate No. 2) – Present  
Carl Miller – Present  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Robert P. Guerin, P.E., P.P., Thomas J. Molica, Esq., and Anne-Marie Wilhelm, 
Land Use Administrator  
 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A motion to approve the Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held  
March 27, 2008 was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by James Homa.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, 
Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, 
Stanley Kula – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
RESOLUTIONS:   
 
PB-9-07-2, Petar Bubalo & Andrea Zeibekis, Preliminary Subdivision, Forest Knoll,  
Block 72 Lots 5.01 and 21: A motion to approve was made by James Homa and seconded by Robert 
Schultz.  Mr. Neubig noted a typographical error where Route 92 should be changed to Route 94. There 
was no further discussion. Roll Call: Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Carl 
Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
PB-8-07-3, West Essex Management, Preliminary and Final Site Plan, Block 62 Lot 18.12:  A 
motion to approve was made by James Homa and seconded by Robert Schultz.  There was no discussion.  
Roll Call: Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion 
carried.  
 
PB-12-06-4, Leidenfrost, R. Minor Subdivision Extension, Block 72, Lot 3.12: A motion to approve 
was made by Robert Neubig and seconded by Ken Kievit. There was no discussion.  Roll Call: Ken 
Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James 
Homa – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.   
 
PB-2-08-2, Patel, Pravinbhai C. Minor Subdivision, Block 72.04, Lot 8.01: A motion to approve was 
made by Robert Neubig and seconded by James Homa. There was no discussion.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – 
yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – 
yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
 
APPLICATIONS :   
 
PB-8-06-1a, Mogavero, Gerard; Florence Mogavero; and Frank Mogavero, Minor Subdivision,  
C Variances, Block 67 Lot 25.01:  William T. Haggerty, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Applicant.  He 
stated engineering concerns are outstanding.  He stated the Applicant received a quote of $500,000 for 
stormwater assistance, which does not include installation.  Kenneth A. Wentink, P.E., L.S., stated that 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 2 of 8 

just buying the parts is $500,000.  Mr. Haggerty stated the Applicant is trying to find other solutions and 
that in today’s market, that kind of hit is devastating.  Mr. Haggerty asked the Board to set the matter 
aside without prejudice. A motion to dismiss without prejudice was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by 
Robert Neubig.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson  
– yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
PB-8-06-2a, Mogavero, Frank. Minor Subdivision Extension, C Variances, Block 71, Lot 7.01:  
William T. Haggerty, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Applicant.  He stated that the matter would expire in 
June 2008 and there are still significant problems in trying to address stormwater issues.  He stated the 
matter was kind of bifurcated with one lot conveyed.  He stated the Applicant is wrestling with ancillary 
permitting from the DEP.  He stated the Applicant has consulted with other engineers to see if there is 
another way of managing this.  He stated the Applicant is considering other options that may be of 
assistance.  He stated the Applicant was not expecting the number received.  With reference to a time 
frame, Mr. Haggerty stated the Applicant is in trouble if they can not address the issues within six months.  
Mr. Molica stated Mr. Collins would support Mr. Haggerty’s requests that the applications be dismissed 
without prejudice and that when the Applicant wants to refile, they can do so, and escrow monies can be 
returned.  He stated fees would be assessed when the matters are refiled.  Mr. Haggerty asked the Board 
to wait on this matter until June.  Mr. Haggerty stated he would correspond with the Board to advise of 
case status.  Mr. Guerin stated a deed was filed on one of the lots.  Mr. Haggerty explained that the 
balance of the property would be one lot and the lot that was filed would be a one-lot subdivision.  
Members discussed filing an amended minor subdivision map showing the phasing of the subdivision.  
Chairman Miller stated that the Board would carry the matter to the June meeting.  Mr. Molica requested 
that Mr. Haggerty prepare a letter memorializing the discussion. 
 
PB-2-08-1, St. Jude the Apostle Parish, Preliminary/Final Site Plan, C Variance, Block 68 Lot 14:  
Stanley Kula recused himself. Cynthia M. Collins, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Applicant. She stated 
the Applicant requests permission from the Board to expand St. Jude the Apostle church site with the 
associated increase of parking and a relocation of the garage.  She stated the site hosts a Catholic church  
and the use will remain the same.     Board members reviewed the waiver requests noted in Mr. Guerin’s 
report inserted below.  Mr. Guerin stated he had no objection to the waiver requests.  A motion to grant 
the waivers was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by Robert Schultz.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit  – yes, 
Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, 
Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
Father William Collins, Pastor of St. Jude the Apostle Church; Alan Spector, Architect; and William 
Beardslee, P.E., P.P., were sworn. 
 
Ms. Collins stated Father Collins would read a statement into the record to explain the underlying and 
need for the application and the expansion of the parish.  Father Collins stated “The parish needs to 
improve the present facilities in order to provide better service to its members and to prepare for future 
growth in population.  Presently, we have scheduling conflicts because of insufficient meeting space.  The 
parish has a wide range of ministries and groups that meet frequently and struggle to find space.  Our 
Youth Group meets in the social hall while parishioners are having fellowship at the Coffee-And after 
mass.  The Liturgy of the Word for Children is often disrupted because of other activities taking place in 
the hall.  Our seniors have a waiting list of 20 people because we cannot accommodate them.  Our 
R.C.I.A. program and Focus Training couples use either the rectory of their own homes when preparing 
couples for marriage or new members to the faith.  The Boy Scouts often have scheduling conflicts with 
our other groups.  Social justice efforts to gather food and clothing are restricted because of shortage of 
space – a common problem all our groups experience is finding a place to store their materials.  The 
parish facilities are used for spiritual, educational, business and social purposes.  We have a variety of 
ministries that require space to meet such as Prayer-shawl, Rosary-makers, Catechetical training, youth, 
seniors, boy scouts, as well as several liturgical ministries such as hospitality, altar servers, lectors, 
communion ministries, liturgy of the Word for children, music, and song.  The parish also accomodates 
groups from outside such as Alcoholic Anonymous who meet every Monday and Wednesday and local 
resident associations that meet for business purposes.” 
 
Mr. Beardslee’s qualifications were accepted by the Board.  He provided an overview of the application 
referencing Exhibit A-1, a colored rendering titled Site Plan of Property Situate on Block 68 Lot 14, 
Township of Hardyston, Sussex County, N.J. Prepared for:  St Jude The Apostle Parish,dated  
August 2, 2007, sheet 1 of 7, revised through 3/3/08, prepared by William E. Beardslee, P.E., L.S.     
Mr. Beardslee stated the property is located at the northeast corner of intersection of Grumm Road and 
Beaver Run Road.    He stated the original church was built between  25-28 years ago.   
 
He stated the site has and will have substandard parking.  He stated a variance is requested.  He stated the 
reasons for the variance request are the high costs to expand to the east that would be incurred due to 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 3 of 8 

grading issues, the desire to keep the existing evergreen trees to the north and west, and 97% of the time, 
the parking lot is vacant.  He stated that no new entrances would be added.  He stated that there would be 
grass sloping areas and areas along the driveway where people pull up.  He stated the number of parking 
spaces is adequate for the number of seats within the church.  He also noted that additional parking would 
increase stormwater run-off.  He presented the granting of the variance would not affect the zone plan, 
would not affect or harm the neighborhood scheme, and the only impact there would be, would be within 
the project.  He stated the use of the maximum number of parking spots would be on Christmas and 
Easter.  He stated the present septic system would remain intact and an additional septic system, tied into 
the current one, would be constructed to the northwest direction.  He stated soil tests, witnessed by the 
Sussex County Health Department, met all the criteria as required for subsurface sewerage disposal.   
 
With reference to drainage, Mr. Beardslee stated the site drains from Beaver Run Road to the north.  He 
stated a detention basin is proposed where retention reduction of flow will be achieved in accordance 
with the stormwater management regulations and the flow will be discharged into the county drainage 
system along Grumm Road.  He stated the county has not responded to the plan thus far.  He stated some 
of the water would remain flowing overland down the north and west into the heavily wooded area.  
He stated there are no wetlands on the site.  He submitted Exhibit A-2, a letter confirming same, prepared 
by Edward J. Formichella, P.L.S., P.P, together with Mr. Formichella’s qualifications. 
 
With regard to parking, Mr. Beardslee suggested working with Mr. Guerin to create a reserved parking 
area containing eight spaces.  Mr. Molica confirmed that showing the eight reserved spaces would negate 
the variance and create a design waiver.  Board members continued the review of Mr. Guerin’s report 
inserted below.  Commentary was noted as follows. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 4 of 8 

 

 

 
 

 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

 

 
 
The Applicant agreed to add a note to the plan. 
 

 
The Applicant agreed to provide the details. 
 

 
 
The Applicant agreed to provide the details. 
 

 
 
Mr. Beardslee explained deliveries would be made through the doors.  Mr. Spector stated the basement 
was 2,800 sf.  Mr. Beardslee presented that the basement is intended for storage of mechanical devices 
and acknowledged that the area could not be used for classrooms without returning to the Board.  
 

 
Mr. Beardslee stated the revisions would clear this up. 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 6 of 8 

 
 
The Applicant agreed to provide a landscaping schedule. 
 

 
 
The Applicant agreed to provide the information. 
 

 
The Applicant agreed to provide the information. 
 

 
The Applicant agreed to provide the information. 
 

 
Mr. Beardslee asked if the testing could be conducted prior to construction, while the machines are out 
there and at the actual grades where it will be built.  He stated that based on his experience on the site, he 
did not have a concern about finding an area that would perc.  Mr. Guerin suggested that it would be 
made a condition prior to receiving a building permit, that way the machinery would be out there for 
working on the site. It was noted that Joseph Farinella, Sanitary Inspector, wrote in that the soil logs were 
acceptable. 

 

 

 
Mr. Beardslee stated the Applicant is agreeable. 

 
Mr. Beardslee stated the Applicant is agreeable. 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 7 of 8 

 
The Applicant agreed. 
 

 

 
Chairman Miller opened the meeting to the public.  There were no participants.  The meeting was closed 
to the public. 
 
Alan Spector, Architect, was qualified and accepted by the Board as an expert witness.  Referencing 
Exhibit A-3, a colored rendering of the facility and a colored rendering of the floor plan, Mr. Spector 
provided an overview of the floor plan and design elements.  He also submitted Exhibit A-4, a series of 
architectural plan sheets titled as follows: 
 
Exhibit 4.1 – Basement and Foundation Plan, dated 9-26-07 revised through 4-15-08, Drawing A4, 
Project No. 07-0120, Proposed Addition to St. Jude the Apostle R.C. Church, Block 68, Lot 14, 
Township of Hardyston, Sussex County, New Jersey; 
Exhibit 4.2 – Conceptual Plan – Design C6, dated 1-26-07 revised through 10-04-07, Drawing A1, 
Project 07-0120, Proposed Addition to St. Jude the Apostle R.C. Church, Block 68, Lot 14, Township of 
Hardyston, Sussex County, New Jersey; 
Exhibit 4.3 – Conceptual Elevations – Design C6, dated 1-26-07 revised through 10-04-07, Drawing A2, 
Project 07-0120, Proposed Addition to St. Jude the Apostle R.C. Church, Block 68, Lot 14, Township of 
Hardyston, Sussex County, New Jersey; 
Exhibit 4.4 - Conceptual Elevations – Design C6, dated 1-26-07 revised through 10-04-07, Drawing A3, 
Project 07-0120, Proposed Addition to St. Jude the Apostle R.C. Church, Block 68, Lot 14, Township of 
Hardyston, Sussex County, New Jersey; and 
Exhibit 4.5- Basement and Foundation Plan, dated 9-26-07 revised through 4-15-08, Drawing A4, 
Project No. 07-0120, Proposed Addition to St. Jude the Apostle R.C. Church, Block 68, Lot 14, 
Township of Hardyston, Sussex County, New Jersey. 
 
With reference to the fire truck access to the rear of the building, Mr. Spector stated a gravel area, located 
to the north side, is provided for emergency access.  Mr. Beardslee provided an overview of the one-way 
traffic circulation pattern.  He stated signage would be used to note the pattern. 
 
Mr. Spector stated the structure would be a continuation of the current 3-B construction with the exterior 
consisting of masonry walls covered with stucco, and the roof will be made of wood with exposed 
glu/lam beams in the sanctuary to the social hall. He stated the old social hall will be converted into a 
continuation of the sanctuary.  It was noted that sprinklers would not be included in the building. 
 
Mr. Spector explained that the garage would be moved.  
 
Chairman Miller opened the meeting to the public.  There were no participants.  The meeting was closed 
to the public. 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held April 24, 2008 
Page 8 of 8 

 
Mr. Molica confirmed that notice was acceptable. 
 
A motion to approve subject to the inclusion of eight unimproved parking spaces,  subject to the 
conditions of approval as set forth in Mr. Guerin’s report, and also the expressed condition that no 
building permit will be issued prior to satisfactory soil permeability tests, and based upon the condition 
that the basement will be used for storage only and in the event the Applicant seeks to use the basement 
for anything else, the Applicant will agree to return to the Board for an amendment was made by Ken 
Kievit and seconded by Bill Hickerson.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig 
– yes, Bill Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  
The motion carried.  
 
PB-4-08-1, Richter, Tillman A. Amended Minor Subdivision, [Amends:  PB-10-05-1,] Block 67 Lot 25.02:     
 
Board members reviewed a request to carry without further notice to the next regular meeting, which was  
forwarded via a faxed letter signed by the Applicant’s attorney, Francis J. McGovern, dated  
April 24, 2008. A motion to carry without further notice was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by 
Robert Neubig.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit  – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill Hickerson 
– yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
Mr. Kula returned to the dais. 
 
 
BILLS:  Board members reviewed the escrow report dated 4/24/08 and two addendums also dated 
4/24/08.  
 
A motion to recommend payment of the bills to the Township Council was made by James Homa and 
seconded by Ken Kievit.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, Bill 
Hickerson – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Stanley Kula – yes, Carl 
Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
 
DISCUSSION: Chairman Miller acknowledged a Highland’s Council meeting schedule. 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE:  Board members received the following correspondence.  There were no 
comments. 

Hardyston Township Planning Board 
Correspondence List – April 24, 2008 

 
1. Elaine A. Morgan, Clerk, Board of Chosen Freeholders of Sussex County 

Re: Ordinance Providing For Adoption of New Land Development Standards In And For 
Sussex County   (March 26, 2008) 
 

2. Antoinette Wasiewicz, Senior Planning Aide, Sussex County Dept. of Engineering & Planning 
Re: Preliminary Major Subdivision, SCPB# 36(PMS)07/08, Applicant:  MNB Realty 
Company, LLC,  Block 11 Lot 21,  Spring Street, Ogdensburg                          (March 31, 2008) 
 

3. Minutes – Hardyston Township Municipal Utilities Authority – March 3, 2008 
 

 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  No members of the public addressed the Board. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by Ken Kievit.  All were 
in favor. The motion carried.  
 

Minutes respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
Anne-Marie Wilhelm  
Land Use Administrator  


